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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS

HELENE E. HAGENAH, )
Plaintiff, ))
V. )) CaseNo. 15-cv-30036-KAR
COMMUNITY ENTERPRISES, INC,, et al., : )
Defendants. : )

MEMORANDUM OF DECISION AND ORDERON DEFENDANTS’ PARTIAL MOTION
TO DISMISS PLAINTIFF'S AMENDEDCOMPLAINT, MOTION TO STRIKE, AND
ALTERNATIVE MOTION FOR MOREDEFINITIVE STATEMENT
(Dkt. No. 19)

ROBERTSON, U.S.M.J.

l. INTRODUCTION

On March 4, 2015, plaintiff Helene E. Hagban@Plaintiff”) filed a complaint against
defendants Community Enterprisés;. (“Community Enterprise$,’ Victoria Fisher, and Lisa
Kenney (collectively, “Defendantyarising out of her agreement with Community Enterprises to
provide adult care services andusing for two participants @ommunity Enterprises’ adult
care program for disabled individuals. In herended complaint (tH€omplaint”), Plaintiff
asserted the following causes ofiaq: in Count I, discriminatiomand retaliation in violation of
Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.®.2000e et seq. (“Title VII”); in Count II,
retaliation and intéerence in violation of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, 42
U.S.C. 88 12203(a) and (b) (“the ADA"); in Gt IlI, retaliation in violation of the
Developmental Disabilities Assistance and BflRights Act of 2000, 42 U.S.C. § 15001 et seq.
(the “DD Act”); in Count 1V, retaliation and inteerence under sections)(4), 4(4A), and 4(5)
of Chapter 151B of the Massachusetts General Laws (“ChBEpi®”); in Count V, breach of

contract; in Count VI, intderence, independent employment; and in Count VI,
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misrepresentation (Dkt. No. 5).

Before the court is Defendants’ motion to dissp seeking dismissal in whole or in part
of each of the counts in the Complaint pursuamute 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure (“Civil Rules”). Defendants have gt moved, pursuant to Rule 12(f) of the Civil
Rules, to strike Plaintiff's request for civil pdtires against Defendants, and, if Count VIl is not
dismissed, for a more definite statement purst@givil Rule 12(e) (Dkt. Nos. 19; 23).

Plaintiff has agreed to dismidsd Count VI with prejudiceand to dismissal of Count VII
without prejudice, and otherwise oppo#ies motion (Dkt. Nos. 30; 36-1).

The parties have consented te jarisdiction of this courtSee28 U.S.C. § 636(c) and
Federal Rule of Civil Procedui®s. For the reasons set forth lveJahe court grants Defendants’
motion in part and denies it in part.

Il. SUMMARY OF FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

In 2013, Plaintiff began providing houngj and caretaking services for two
developmentally and physically disabled adpHsticipating in Community Enterprises’ adult
care program (Dkt. No. 5 at 1 8). Before Ridii began providing thesservices, Plaintiff,
Community Enterprises, and each adult pgrdint signed a Letter of Agreement, dated
respectively April 24 and June 24, 2013, settinghftine responsibilitiesf the caregiver, the
participant, and Community Enteiges (Dkt. No. 5 at {1 21-2Bkt. No. 23-1; Dkt. No. 23-2.

Separately executed Payment Agreements weaeheed to each of ¢hLetters of Agreement

! The Complaint is, in effect, vified as it incorporates by refence an attached 129-paragraph
affidavit signed by Plaintiff (Dkt. No. 5-1). Theomplaint is referencederein as “Dkt. No. 5,”
while the incorporated affidavit ieferenced as “Dkt. No. 5-1.”

2 In ruling on Defendants’ motion, the court eslion the Letters of Agreement attached to
Defendants’ motion because these documentefesznced in, and ceal to, Plaintiff's
complaint. See Curran v. Cousin509 F.3d 36, 44 (1st Cir. 2007).
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(Dkt. No. 23-1 at 5Dkt. No. 23-2 at 6§. As the caregiver, Pldiff's responsibilities included,
but were by no means limited to, ensuring thatparticipants were full members of the
household; providing clean andrattive living quarters; dointhe participants’ laundry;
providing three nutritionally bateced meals daily, as well as snacks; and ensuring that the
residence was properly maintained so that it reethin compliance with béligibility criteria
(Dkt. Nos. 23-1; 23-2) Community Enterprises was requir®, among other things, maintain
and continue to develop new liaisons witlciaband health agencies for the purpose of
identifying local resources that could be usedhgyparticipants; ensuo®ordination of health-
related services as needed; provide oriertegessions for the caiggr, and provide the
caregiver with specialized teaching sessionsdimguon the identified nesdf the participants
(Dkt. No. 23-1; Dkt. No. 23-2).

According to the Payment Agreements, bothipigants living withPlaintiff agreed to
pay monthly room and board to Plaintiff (DktoN23-1 at 5; Dkt. No. 23-2 at 6). Community
Enterprises determined the amount the participaaits for room and bodr(Dkt. No. 23-1 at 3;
Dkt. No. 23-2 at 3). Plaintiff also receivedrenthly stipend from Comuomity Enterprises at a
set daily rate (Dkt. No. 23-1 at 5; Dkt. No. 2%t 6). The Payment Agreements provided that
the stipend was contingent on the participanniaaing active status with MassHealth; if the
participant’s MassHealth eiigjlity ended for any reason, even temporarily, Community
Enterprises would not pay the stipend until plagticipant was reinstated on MassHealth (Dkt.

No. 23-1 at 5; DktNo. 23-2 at 6).

3 The Letters of Agreement were virtually idieal except that one aluded an addendum,

signed by Plaintiff, Community Enterprises remsitives, and the participant, imposing some
additional obligations on the participant, and limiting Plaintiff's responsibility for control of the
participant’s finances and cigaegmoking (Dkt. No. 23-2 at 5).
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In summary, the Complaint alleges thatf@welants violated many of the participants’
civil rights and that Plaintifbbjected to these alied violations (DktNo. 5 at 1 30-33).
Plaintiff alleges that she assisted the participeméxercising their rigis to report employment
problems and to oppose discriminatory conduct and amhis# ([ 30-32), and assisted one of
the participants in filing a forad charge of discriminationd. at  31)* Plaintiff further claims
that Defendants retaliated against her for advwogdor the participants and because she raised
claims of discrimination and rekd claims on her own behaifl(at § 33).

Defendant Lisa Kenney (“Kenney”) is tieogram Manager artduman Rights Officer
of Community Enterprisesd. at § 10). As the Human ghts Officer, Kenney provided the
participants living with Plairff with documents explaining #ir “human rights, employment
rights, community participation rights, self-determination rights, and some of their Constitutional
rights” (id. at 1 25). Kenney also provided thenth a handout titld “Ten Performance
Standards for Staff” and another handout describing the human rights complaint pdbess (
19 27-28). Plaintiff alleges thKienney violated rights of the gicipants set forth in these
documentsig. at 71 30-33) and identifies particulacidents of alleged misconduct by Kenney
(e.g, Dkt. No. 5-1 at {1 60-66). Piff alleges that the participgsreported to her that Kenney
would become angry and yell at them and caktbem into making statements they did not
want to maked.qg, id. at 1 88, 94, 99, 103). Plaintiff alatbeges that during a September 12,
2013 meeting, where one of the participants (thgext of the meeting)nal Plaintiff's attorney

was present, Kenney became visibly angry and “@xeld ‘We pay for this place,” in regard to
Plaintiff's home, and allegedinade other “aggressive” statentgnncluding that the attorney

would “ruin” everything (d. at 11 65-66). Plaintiff beNed by this point that Community

4 The Complaint does not identify the respam(e) to this actiofDkt. No. 5 at { 31).
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Enterprises was retaliating against her forridtag up for the rightsf the two disabled
individuals” for whom she proded home care and supervisiah ét I 69).

Defendant Victoria Fisher (“Fisher”) the director of the Community Enterprises
Pittsfield office (Dkt. No. 5 at 1 9). Accordinig Plaintiff, after Plaintiff's September 12, 2013
meeting with Kenney, Fisher askBthintiff to meet with her witout her attorney present (Dkt.
No. 5-1 at § 71). Plaintiff responded by emaiFisher, expressing her many concerns about the
adult care program, advocating on behalf of the@pants living with her, and stating that she
intended to send a copy of her email toMessachusetts Disabled Persons Protection
Commissionif. at 1 72, 77, 81, 85-86). Subsequent to sending her email to the Commission,
Plaintiff became concerned about the way the twtgyeants were being treated, particularly by
Kenney, and that she, Plaintiff, was being shutof decision-makingrocesses regarding the
participants, including meetingsd appointments that the peigants requested she atterd (
at 11 88-106). On October 7, 2013, Plaintiff's mit&y sent a letter tbisher setting forth
potential claims on behalf of one of the participaitsdt 1 107). Two daysiter, Plaintiff
received a letter from Fishezquesting that she come to@ntober 10, 2013 meeting without
her attorneyil. at 1 108-110). The letter stated tifid@laintiff did notattend the meeting,

Fisher would terminate the agreement lstaw Community Enterprises and Plaintidf. @t 9
111). Plaintiff asked for more information prim the meeting, which she ultimately did not
attend (d. at 1 114-118). On October 22, 2013, Fisheteva letter to Platiff and enclosed
her final check from Community Enterprisés. @t § 119).

[I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Motions to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) oéthederal Rules of Civil Procedure (“the

Civil Rules”) test the suftiiency of the pleadingsSee Ashcroft v. Igbab56 U.S. 662, 679



(2009). To survive a motion to dismiss, a compylenust “state a clian [for] relief that is
plausible on its face,” acceptingetiplaintiff's factual allegationand drawing all reasonable
inferences in the plaintiff's favor.Maloy v. Ballori-Lage 744 F.3d 250, 252 (1st Cir. 2014)
(quotingBell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|\550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)). A complaint need not contain
detailed factual allegations, butmust recite facts sufficient to kgast “raise a right to relief
above the speculative level . . . on the assumptiorathilte allegatins in the complaint are true
(even if doubtful in fact).”Bell Atl. Corp, 550 U.S. at 555. When deciding a motion to dismiss,
the First Circuit has “emphasize[thiat the complaint must be read as a whole,” and that
circumstantial evidence may be sufficiémtsurpass the plausibility threshol@arcia—Catalan
v. United States/34 F.3d 100, 103 (1st Cir. 2013). At a minimum, however, a complaint must
include sufficient factual matter that, when acceptettue, would allow the court to draw “the
reasonable inference that the defendshable for the misconduct allegedld. (citation
omitted). In conducting this analysis, the couxtepts as true all well-pleaded facts and draws
all reasonable inferencesfawvor of the plaintiff. See Cooperman v. Individual, In&71 F.3d
43, 46 (1st Cir. 1999).

V. DiscussioN

A. Dismissal of Count I; Count Il as todfier and Kenney; Count lll; Count V as
to Fisher and Kenney; and Count VI

At the September 16, 2015 hearing on the instastion, the court orally dismissed with
prejudice Count | as to all Defdants; Count Il as to defendarKenney and Fisher; Count Ill as
to all Defendants; and Countas to defendants Fisher akdnney. Plaintiff does not oppose
dismissal of Count VI as to all Defendants. The reasons for dismissal of these claims, most of
which were previously stated aourt, are set forth below.

1. Countl



With respect to Count I, Fisher and Kenney are sued for their actions as Community
Enterprises employees. Plaintiff's Title Vllanins against Fisher and Kenney cannot go forward
because it is well-settlegtiat there is no individual liabilitfor employees under Title VII.See
Fantini v. Salem State Cqlb57 F.3d 22, 31 (1st Cir. 2008¢lduc v. Town of Webste29 F.
Supp. 2d 132, 152 (D. Mass. 200dprney v. Westfield Gage C®5 F. Supp. 2d 29, 33 (D.

Mass. 2000)see alsat2 U.S.C. 8§ 2000e-3 (it shall la@ unlawful practice for aemployerto
discriminate against any of his employeespplicants for employment for opposing any
employment practice made unlawful under Title VIBlaintiff's claims under Title VII must be
dismissed as to all Defendants for the adddi reason that Title VII prohibits workplace
discrimination “on the basis of race, color, gedn, sex or national ong . . . [and] employer
retaliation on account of an employee’s havipgased, complained of, or sought remedies for
[such] unlawful workplace discrimination.Univ. of Texas Sw. Med. Ctr. v. Nassk83 S.Ct.

2517, 2522, 2525 (2013) (citing 42 U.S.C. 88 2000e-2(a); 2000e-3(a)). The Complaint is devoid
of any allegation that Plaintiffias discriminated against on the basis of race, color, religion, sex
or national origin, or that she was letted against for opposing unlawful workplace
discrimination on any of those bases. For the foregoing reasons, Count | is dismissed with
prejudice as to all Defendants.

2. Count Il as to Kenney and Fisher

The ADA contains four sub-parts. Tilleddresses discrimination on the basis of
disability by an “employer, employment aggnabor organization, or joint labor-management
committee.” 42 U.S.C. 8§ 12111(2), 12112. Title bhpbits disability discrimination in the
services, programs, or actieis of a “public entity.”See42 U.S.C. § 12131(1). Title 1l

addresses discrimination on the basis séMlility by places of public accommodatidBee4?2



U.S.C. § 12181(7). Although it is settled in thiscuit that there is nondividual liability under
Title | of the ADA, see Roman-Oliveras v. Puerto Rico Elec. Power AG8% F.3d 43, 45 (1st
Cir. 2011), it remains an open question whetivemdividual may be liable for retaliation under
42 U.S.C. 88 12203(a) of the ADA, whichoprdes, in relevant part, that “[njzersonshall
discriminate against any individual because sadividual has opposed an act or practice made
unlawful by this chapter . . . garticipated in any manner @n investigation, proceeding or
hearing under this chaptet.{Emphasis supplied.) Ackndedging the broad language in §
12203(a), “[c]ourts that have addised individual liability foretaliation claims under the ADA
have reached different conclass depending on what rights undee ADA are involved in the
claim.” Datto v. Harris 664 F. Supp. 2d 472, 488 (E.D. Pa. 2009). Here, although Plaintiff
makes passing reference in her Complaint tegil and Il of theADA (Dkt. No. 5 at 1 52,

60), she does not allege that Community Entsegsris a public entity or a place of public
accommodation. She does, however, allege iméscription of the parties that Community
Enterprises is an entity coverby Title | of the ADA, i.e., an employer (Dkt. No. 5, 1 11-12),
and she argues in her opposition to Defendants’ motion tostighat she was an employee of,
rather than an independent aactor with, Community Enterprises (Dkt. No. 36-1). For these
reasons, and because it is the most plaaisdading of the Complaint as a whalee Garcia-
Catalan 734 F.3d at 103, the court interprets thenplaint as asserting claims under 42 U.S.C.
§ 12203(a) against Community Enterprigsethe capacity of an employer.

Title | of the ADA contains its own enfoement provision, § 12117, “which incorporates

> The ADA's interference provision provides, inengant part, that “[i]t shall be unlawful to
coerce, intimidate, threaten, ioterfere with any individual . . . on account of his or her having
aided or encouraged any othedividual in the exercise or enjment of any right granted or
protected by [the ADA]. 42 U.S.C. § 12203(b).
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the remedies of Title VII ofhe Civil Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. 88 2000e-4 to -®atto, 644 F.
Supp. 2d at 486. Title VIl has long beendheot to impose individual liability See, e.g.,
Fantini, 557 F.3d at 31. “Courts addressing whethéividual liability may be imposed under
the ADA for retaliation claims involving employmemave often not distinguished between . . .
claims under Title | of the ADA and retaliatictaims under [42 U.S.C.] 8§ 12203. Such cases
have held . . . that individu&hbility is not available undegither type of claim,” without
reference to the use of therte“person” in § 12203(a)Datto, 664 F. Supp. 2d at 488-89 (citing
Butler v. City of Prairie Villagel72 F.3d 736, 744 (10th Cir. 1998)cInerney v. Moyer
Lumber and Hardware, Inc244 F. Supp. 2d 393, 397-98 (E.D. Pa. 2002)).

Other courts, however, have analyzed the laggun 8§ 12203(a) in light of the remedial
provisions set forth in subsemt (c) of § 12203, which incporates by reference as to
employment related claims the remedies set forth in Title | of ABde42 U.S.C. 8§ 12117,
12203(c). Section 12117 incorporates the remexiagable under Title VII.These courts have
held that “individual liabilityis precluded under § 12203 where [as here] the act or practice
opposed by the plaintiff is made unlawful by Subchapter | of the ADMGta v. Advan Ing.

490 F.3d 826, 834 (11th Cir. 2007). “Because TitleNA$ been consistently held not to provide
a remedy against individildefendants, [thalbra court and others] reason that, by

incorporating Title VIl remedies in claims involving employment, the retaliation provision of the
ADA has been similarly limited.’Datto, 664 F. Supp. 2d at 489 (citiddbra, 490 F.3d at 832-

33; Stern v. Cal State Archive882 F. Supp. 690, 694 (E.D. Cal. 1998ge also Van Hulle v.

Pac. Telesis Corpl24 F. Supp. 2d 642, 645-646 (N.D. Cal. 2000) (what remedies, if any, a
plaintiff is entitled to depends on whether #ileged retaliation occurred with respect to

employment, public services, or public accommodation).



The cases cited by Plaintiff are not to the camyt Those cases establish either that an
employer can be liable for a retaliatory acdttis not directly riated to employmensee, e.g.,
Burlington N. & Santa Fe Ry. Co. v. Whi&l8 U.S. 53, 63-64 (2006) (the materially adverse
action that must be shown nemat be tied directly to termand conditions of employment);
Gore v. Trustees of Deerfield Acad85 F. Supp. 2d 65, 71-73 (Mass. 2005) (anti-retaliation
provisions of Title VIl and ADA may cover employsractions that are ndtrectly related to
terms and conditions of employment), or thatemployee is protected by the ADA against
retaliation for being perceived having assisted a fellow employeeassert the right to be free
from disability discrimination.See Fogelman v. Mercy Hosp., |83 F.3d 561, 564-565 (3d
Cir. 2002). None of these cases stands ®ptioposition that the ADA pwides for individual
liability for retaliatory acton. Plaintiff's reliance on thBatto case is also misplaced. As is set
forth above Datto distinguished betwee$ 12203 retaliation claims vene the underlying claim
is related to employment from those asseatgainst public entities or public accommodations.
See Dattp664 F. Supp. 2d at 488-92. Thatto court, faced only with claims asserted under
Titles Il and Il of the ADA, distinguished the caseiling that there is no individual liability
under the ADA when the underlying claim isated to employment and concluded that ADA
retaliation claims involving publiservices and public accommadidas may be brought against
individuals. See idat 491.

So far as the court has been made awaretbave consistently held that there is no
individual liability under § 12203 when, as here, tinelerlying claim is asserted under Title | of

the ADA® Accordingly, so much of Count Il asserts claims against Kenney and Fisher is

® The court acknowledges that, in dicta, the &ohiBtates Court of Appeals for the Eleventh
Circuit expressed that “ultimately it remained oneinced” by the approach of looking to the
remedial sections of the ADA for purposedetermining the scope of liability under § 12203.
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dismissed with prejudice.
3. Count Il
Plaintiff has failed to state a claim for edlin Count Il because the DD Act is “a
federal-state grant program whby the Federal Government provides financial assistance to
participating States to aid them in creating programs to care for and treat the developmentally
disabled,”Roa-Mendez v. Deficiencias En El Desarrollo (CEEDyil No. 11-1989CCC, 2012
WL 4092622, at *4 (D.P.R. Sept. 13, 2012) (quoftemnhurst State Sch. and Hosp. v.
Halderman 451 U.S. 1 (1981)), meaning that it is “a typical funding statuRna-Mendez
2012 WL 4092622, at *4. Consequently, the DD damés not create anylsstantive rights that
Plaintiff can assersee id.at *5, and Count Il is dismissed wightejudice as to all Defendants.
4. Count V
Count V alleges breachestbk Letters of Agreement signed by Plaintiff, Community
Enterprises and the participants (Dkt. Nos. 233t2). Kenney and Fisher were not parties to
these contracts. Fisher did not sign eithaheflLetters of Agreement. Although Kenney signed
one of the Letters of Agreement, she did sdehnalf of Community Entgrises in her capacity
as Program Manager (Dkt. No. 2&®4), and cannot be held liador any alleged violation of
that agreementSee Porshin v. Snide212 N.E. 2d 216, 217 (Mass. 1965) (unless otherwise
agreed, a person making or purporting to magerdract for a discloskprincipal does not
become a party to the contracte also Welgoss v. Dept. of Trangpvil Action No. 2012-

1549-C, 2013 WL 4007929, at *4 n.4 (Mass. Sup.J@he 21, 2013) (defendant acting on behalf

Shotz v. City of Plantation, Fla344 F.3d 1161, 1173 (11th Cir. 2003). Bietzcourt, which
was addressing retaliation claims asseuteder the ADA based on discrimination in the
provision of public services, did hdecide the issue and wenttencomment that the approach
might make sense in the employment cont&de idat 1166, 1173-74.

11



of a disclosed principal cannot be held perdighiable for agreements the plaintiff understood
were being made on behalf of a disclosed eygal). Accordingly, Count V is dismissed with
prejudice as to Kenney and Fish&efendants have not moved ftismissal of Count V as to
Community Enterprises.
5. Count VI

In Count VI, Plaintiff alleges that Defendants, and in particular Fisher and Kenney,
“intentionally interfered with [Br] independent work” for Communiggnterprises in violation of
section 19 of Chapter 149 of the Massachusattseral Laws (Dkt. No. 5 at [ 71-72). No
private right of action exists pursudntthis section of the statutgge Travers-Sheik v. Habit
Mgmt., Inc, No. Civ. A. 05-11631-GAO, 2006 WL 37759%t,*2 (D. Mass. Dec. 20, 2006), a
point that Plaintiff apparently acknowledgesshs does not oppose dismissal of Count VI with
prejudice (Dkt. No. 30 at 18). Accordingly, Cawi is dismissed with prejudice as to all
Defendants.

B. Remaining counts and motion to strike

1. Count Il as to Community Enterprises

The Complaint alleges in Couhitthat Community Enterpse violated § 12203 of the
ADA by retaliating against Plaintiff, or interfer@dth, coerced, or intimidated her, for assisting
the participants in exercigj rights protected by the ADA According to Plaintiff, the

Defendants violated § 12203(a) of the ADA “teyminating or causing the termination of

" To the extent Plaintiff claims that Communinterprises retaliateafjainst her because she
exercised rights granted to her under the ADA,ls®enot stated the basis for any such claim
because she has not alleged #iegt has a disability within the meaning of the ADA (Dkt. No. 5,
1 33). See, e.g., Sifre v. Dept. of Heal88 F. Supp. 2d 91, 99 (D.P.R9B) (to sustain claim of
disability discrimination on her own behalf, plafhmust meet threshdlburden of establishing
that she is disabledff'd, 214 F.3d 23 (1st Cir. 2000).
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Plaintiff’'s Adult Foster Cartiome share contracts without further payments” because she
assisted the participants “inetlexercise of . . . rights apdivileges protected by the ADA,”
including assisting one of the piaipants with bringing a formatharge of discrimination (Dkt.
No. 5 at 11 31, 41). Community Enterprises nsagedismiss Count Il on the ground that it was
not plaintiff's employer for purposes of the ADAVhile it appears that Rintiff argues that she
can assert claims for retaliati and interference under the ADA ether she is an employee or
an independent contractor, she further contéimaisthe Complaint adequately alleges that
Community Enterprises was her employekt{INo. 30 at 9-16; Dkt. No. 36-1).

a. The ADA and independent contractors

The First Circuit “has not yet decided gypaal directly presenting the question whether
the ADA covers only employees, although [it hals$erved that the ADA and Title VII, which
does not protect independent qawtors, use a similar definition of the term ‘employeiDykes
v. DePuy, InG.140 F.3d 31, 37 n.6 (1st Cir. 1998) (citi@grparts Distrib. Ctr., Inc. v. Auto
Wholesaler's Ass'ni37 F.3d 12, 16 (1st Cir. 1994)). Nuroes other federal courts, including
district courts in this circuit, have held thhe ADA does not protechdependent contractors.
See id. 140 F.3d at 37 n.6 (citing cases®g also Velez-Ramirez v. Puerto RE® F. Supp. 3d
31, 38 (D.P.R. 2015) (“The ADA covers employeather than independent contractors.”)
(citing Alberty-Velez v. Corporacion d&R. para la Difsion Publica361 F.3d 31, 38 (1st Cir.
2004) (Title VII case))Dykes 140 F.3d at 38xee also Mailhot v. Fedex Ground Package Sys.,
Inc., No. 02-257-JD, 2003 WL 22037314, at *1 (D.NAug. 29, 2003). Notwithstanding that
Community Enterprises has pointed to colimpg authority for theproposition that the
retaliation and intéerence provisions of the ADA do notgbect independent contractors, the

court declines to decide the question at timgetbecause, regardless of the outcome, Plaintiff's
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ADA claim against Community Eearprises will proceedSee Claudomir v. Commonwealth of
Mass, Civil Action No. 15-cv-128670IT, 2018/L 492754, at *4 (D. Mass. Feb. 8, 2016).

b. Community Enterprises has not shown as a matter of law that
Plaintiff was an independent contractor

The United States Supreme Court has distaddl that when a statute such as the ADA
contains the term “employee” but does nif¢oan informative definition, “a court must
presume that Congress has incorporated traditagency law principleor identifying ‘master-
servant relationships.”Lopez v. Mass588 F.3d 69, 83 (1st Cir. 2009) (citingter alia,
Clackamas Gastroenterology Assocs., P.C. v. W&38 U.S. 440, 444-47 (2003) (considering
whether physician shareholders were emplogeesnployers for purposes of the ADA)). “The
common law element of control is the mipal guidepost thatwuld be followed [in
determining whether an employemployee relationship exists].Clackamas538 U.S. at 448.
“In particular, the Court il€lackamasvas persuaded that courts shlibiook to the guidelines in
the EEOC’s Compliance Manual to address the questi when a person is an ‘employee.”
Lopez 588 F.3d at 88.

Those guidelines note that whether amplayer-employee relationship exists is fact-
specific, and, in their current form, include tfollowing list of non-exhastive factors indicating
that a worker is in an employment relationship:

e The employer has the right to controlevhh where, and how the worker performs

the job.
e The work does not requirehégh level of expertise.

8 Plaintiff’'s citations to casedecided under state and federabeand hour laws and to state

and federal wage and hour regulationsiareelpful (Dkt. No. 36-1 at 4-7). In tlt@ackamas
andLopezcases, the United States Supreme Caoudtthe First Circuit have established the
common law agency test as the tesbe applied to the questiohwhether an individual is an
employee or an independent contractor for psegmf the ADA, and those decisions are binding
on this court.See, e.g., Jepson v. Deutsche Bank. Nat. Trus869.F. Supp. 2d 202, 207 (D.
Mass. 2013).

14



The employer furnishes the tgpimaterials, and equipment.

The work is performed on the employer’s premises.

There is a continuing relationshiptiveen the worker and the employer.

The employer has the right to assagditional projects to the worker.

The employer sets the hoursvedrk and the duration of the job.

The worker is paid by the hour, week,neonth rather than the agreed cost of

performing a particular job.

The worker does not hire and pay assistants.

The work performed by the worker is paftthe regular busirss of the employer.

The employer is in business.

The worker is not engaged in his/leevn distinct occupation or business.

The employer provides the worker withnedits such as insurance, leave, or

workers’ compensation.

e The worker is considered an employed¢h&f employer for tax purposes (i.e., the
employer withholds federal, statmd Social Security taxes).

e The employer can discharge the worker.

e The worker and the employer belietat they are creating an employer-

employee relationship.

EEOC Compliance Manual 8§ 2: Threshtddues, 2009 WL 29666755, at *1 (Aug. 2009). “Not
all or even a majority of the listed criteria ndmtimet,” nor is the parsécharacterization of the
relationship determinativeSee idat *2.

At the motion to dismiss stage, the court cannot say that application of these criteria
results in a determination as a matter of law that Plaintiff was an independent contractor. As to
some factors, no determination can be made asthge of the litigationAs to others, there are
allegations that would tend to support a conclusia Plaintiff was an employee: there was a
continuing relationship between Community Entespsiand Plaintiff; Platiff was paid by the
month rather than the agreed cost of perfagya particular job; #awork she performed —
providing supported housing to individuals wéecial needs — was a regular part of the
business of Community Enterprises, which weasan entity, in #business of providing
services to disabled adults; Plaintiff was najaed in her own distinciccupation or business;
the work did not require a high level of exiiee; and Community Enterprises was able to

discharge Plaintiff, as, accondj to the Complaint, it did.
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There are also facts allegedreasonably inferable from the pleadings and supporting
documents that would favor finding that Pldimivas not a Community Barprises employee:
the work was performed at Rhiff's home and not on Commiin Enterprises premises; and,
for the most part, it does not appehat Community Enterprisésrnished tools, materials and
equipment. It is reasonable to infer fréime Letters of Agreement that Plaintiff was not
considered an employee of Community Enterprisetax purposes, and she has not alleged that
Community Enterprises afforded her employmemidfiés such as insunae, paid leave, or
workers’ compensation.

As to other factors, including ehcritical factor of control overow Plaintiff performed
the work that was the subjecttbie Letters of Agreement, Community Enterprises is asking this
court to draw inferences from the Complaand related documents that are not the only
reasonable inferences that can be drawn. This the court canr®eeoe.g., Coopermai71
F.3d at 46. According to Community Enterprises, the work that Plaintiff was hired to do was to
ensure that the participants wéud participants in her houkeld, and the Letters of Agreement
left her with almost unfettered discretion in helae achieved that goal. This is sufficient,
according to Community Enterprises, to estabtstt Plaintiff was an independent contractor
with, rather than an employee of, Community Emtises (Dkt. No. 23 at 9-11; Dkt. No. 35-1 at
7-8). If, however, all reasonabinferences are drawn in Plaifis favor, the Complaint and the
related documents can be viewed as preseatpigture of substantial control by Community
Enterprises over when, how and even, to sonengxwhere Plaintiff performed her work for
Community Enterprises, since she was regliceconsult in adwace with Community
Enterprises if she planned tdésa participant on vacation witter or even out of her home

(Dkt. No. 23-1 at 3; Dkt. No. 23-&t 3). Plaintiff's ddy and weekly duties and responsibilities
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were set out in detail in the tters of Agreement, including, boot limited to, providing meals
three times a day and snacks, supervisingitheslated activities such as taking daily
medications and complying with medical msitions from physicians and Community
Enterprises, doing laundry, providing oranging for transportation, and shopping for
participants (Dkt. No. 23-1; Dkt No. 23-2). &tvas required to maintain the residence to
standards monitored by Community Enterprises] was responsible for providing support and
supervision to each participant as directed bypn@ainity Enterprises. In performing her work,
Plaintiff was subject to the agweing supervision of Community Egrprises with visits to the
work site (Plaintiff’'s home) on a schedule aeimed solely by Community Enterprises (Dkt.
No. 23-1 at 4; Dkt. No. 23-2 ). The Complaint alleges that Plaintiff was warned that
Community Enterprises would ttg “take over” her home, sornteng that she perceived was
happening, and includes allegati@misntrusive oversight by Gomunity Enterprises (Dkt. No.
5-1 at 11 18, 20, 68, 80-81).

It may well be that, on a more fully ddeped record, the contentions Community
Enterprises makes about Plaintiff's status & will carry the day. Tis is however, a fact
intensive question more suitable for resolution on summary judgment or at trial than on a motion
to dismiss. “For purposes of Fed. R. Civ. Pb)@), the possibility of claim is enough to
defeat dismissal."Carparts 37 F.3d at 17. For the foregoirgpsons, the court declines to
dismiss Plaintiff’'s ADA claim against @amunity Enterprises at this time.

c. Motion to strike

In her prayer for relief, Plaintiff asks tleeurt to assess a civil penalty of $55,000 against
each defendant pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 12188(b)(2) (Dkt. No. 5 at 20, 1 5). To the extent

Plaintiff seeks in Count Il toszert a claim under § 12188(b) of hBA, a point that is not clear
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from the Complaint (Dkt. No. 5 at {1 52, 60), aough claim would be subgt to dismissal with
prejudice. No private right action is available under thsgction of the ADA because, by its
terms, it grants the United States Attorney Gdrtbmauthority to invegjate alleged violations
of Title 11l of the ADA (disability discriminéion by public accommodations) and to file civil
actions when such violations are found. Defetslarove, for this reason, to strike Plaintiff's
request that the court imposeil penalties authorized 42 U.S.C. § 121188(b)(2) and 28
C.F.R. 8 36.504(a)(3) on the Defendants (Dkt. Rbat 11). Because any claim by Plaintiff
under § 12188(b) would be subject to dismisg#t prejudice, and because a civil penalty
premised on this section of the statute magdsessed only when the United States Attorney
General prevails on a claim of discrimination undigle 11l of the ADA aginst an entity that
has committed a second or subsequent violasiee42 U.S.C. § 12188(b)(2), Defendants’
motion to strike is granted. Paragraph five @liitiff's Prayer for Relief is therefore stricken.

2. Count IV as to all Defendants

Section 4(4) of Chapter 151B makes it unlavifu “any person . . . to discharge, expel
or otherwise discriminate against any persenause he has opposed any practices forbidden
under this chapter or because he has filed a leonptestified or assisted in any proceeding
under [Chapter 151B, 8§ 5],” while section 4{4hakes it unlawful for “any person to coerce,
intimidate, threaten, or interfere with anothersom in the exercise or enjoyment of any right
granted or protected by this chapter, or to coentiepidate, threaten or farfere with such other
person for having aided or encouedgany other person in the exercise or enjoyment of any such
right granted or protected by this chapter.” d8laGen. Laws ch. 151B, § 4(4A). Finally, section
4(5) of Chapter 151B makes it an unlawful preeti[flor any person, whether an employer or an

employee or not, to aid, abet, incite, competa@grce the doing of any of the acts forbidden
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under this chapter or to attempt to do so€cérding to Plaintiff, “Defendants’ malicious and
reckless disregard” of her “rights to . . . asslisabled persons with the exercise of and
enforcement of their legally protected righésid the termination dfer agreements with
Community Enterprises was retaligton violation of the relevant provisions of Chapter 151B
(Dkt. No. 5, 11 62-63). In seeking dismiss&Plaintiff’'s Chapter 151B claims, Defendants
contend that (a) the statute does protect independent contractowhich was Plaintiff's status

in her relationship with Community Enterprisasd (b) Plaintiff has failed to allege that she
engaged in activity protected under the statufe.least at the motion to dismiss stage, the court
is not persuaded.

a. Chapter 151B and independent contractors

According to Defendants, whether an ipdadent contractor ngdbring a retaliation
claim against the party for whom the independemtractor is working is a question of first
impression under Massachusetts law (Dkt. No. 353). In these circumstances, the court
should attempt to predict howettMassachusetts Supreme Judicial Court (“SJC”) would rule on
the issue.See Vicarelli vBus. Intern., InG.973 F. Supp. 241, 244 (D. Mass. 1997). On the one
hand, the SJC is on record as to the bread@hapter 151B’s anti-retaliation provisions. In
Psy-Ed Corp. v. Kleim947 N.E.2d 520 (2011), the courted that a former employee could
bring a claim of retaliation. Addssing the classes of those pobéd under 88 4(4) and 4(4A),
the SJC observed that “[s]ection 4(4) addes action taken by ‘apgrson’ against ‘any

person,” while § 4(4A) concerns actions takeridny person’ against ‘another person.’ In

%1t is well-settled that, in@propriate circumstances, there ¢@nindividual liability under
Chapter 151B.See, e.g., Martin v. Irwin Indus. Tool C862 F. Supp. 2d 37, 38-41 (D. Mass.
2012). Defendants do not argue otiniee and do not seek dismissétthe claims against Fisher
and Kenney on the basis that Chapter 151 daé provide for indiidual liability.
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neither case does the statute expressly requateathemployer-employee relationship exist at
the time of the wrongful conduot at any other timé. Id. at 531 (emphasis supplied).The
Psy-Edcourt concluded that, in view of the broadhezlial purposes of the statute, it would be
wrong to imply limitations not found in the statutory langua8ee id.This relatively expansive
reading of Chapter 151B’s retaliation provisi@uggests that the SJICght read the provisions
here invoked by Plaintiff as protecting an independent contrattomvas discharged or
otherwise discriminated against for opposingraiftden practice or assisting in a proceeding
brought under section 5 of Chapter 1518:eMass. Gen. Laws ch. 151 B, 88 4(4), 4(4A).

On the other hand, the SJC and the Massachusetts Appeals Court have been cautious
about expanding the reach of the Commonweadthtsdiscrimination statutes outside of the
traditional employee-employer setting. Uowrey v. Klemm 845 N.E.2d 1124 (Mass. 2006), for
example, the SJC held that a volunteer coutdsoe for sexual harassment under section 1C of
Chapter 214 of the Massachusetts General L(&3ection 1C”). Seadvn 1C, which provides
that “[a] person shall have the right to bedifrom sexual harassment,” incorporates Chapter

151B’s definition of sexual harassment. Tlwvreycourt held that, although “’person’ is a
broad term, the definition[] of gaal harassment in G.L. c. 151B..expressly incorporated into
G.L. c. 214, 8 1C, limits the reach of [Chapt&ilB]: these provisions define as ‘sexual
harassment’ only conduct that affects ‘a terns@rdition of employment’ or serves as ‘a basis

for employment decisions, . . . [or] creates fatimidating, hostile, humiliating or sexually

offensive work environment[.]”"Lowrey, 845 N.E.2d at 1128. The majority Tinomas

10 Defendants characterize this staent as irrelevant dicta (Dkt. No. 35-1 at 4). Speaking of the
United States Supreme Court, the First Circust $eid that “federal appellate courts are bound
by the Supreme Court’s considered dicta almsdirmly as by the Court’s outright holdings,
particularly when . . . a dictum is of re¢etntage and not enfeebled by any subsequent
statement.”"McCoy v. Mass. Inst. of Te¢®50 F.2d 13, 19 (1st Cir. 1991).
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O’Connor Constructors, Inc. v. Ma. Comm’n Against Discriminatip893 N.E.2d 80, 86
(Mass. App. Ct. 2008) observed thab Massachusetts appellatecgon ever has interpreted §
4(4A) to make an employer liable to someotiger than its employegalthough] the statutory
language admits of such a result.” Therensaddition, the longstanding rule, announced in
Comey v. Hill 438 N.E.2d 811, 814 (Mass. 1982), that Chapter 151B should “not be read as
intending to broaden the definition of empd@yto include an indepdent contractor.”See also
Speen v. Crown Clothing Cord.02 F.3d 625, 629 (1996) (same).

A ruling that independent contractors gretected against taiatory action under
Chapter 151B might place Massashbtts in the minority, but would not be alone. The
Supreme Court of Washington has ruled WWatshington’s civil ghts law protects an
independent contractor from discrimination ie thaking or performance of a contract where the
alleged discrimination is bag®n disability, among other protected characterist8=e Marquis
v. City of Spokane®©22 P.2d 43, 45 (Wash. 1996). That prisvecapplies as well to a claim of
retaliation by an independent contract8ee Currier v. Northland Servs., In832 P.3d 1006
(Wash. App. 2014). Icurrier, the plaintiff was a subcontractouck driver for the defendant,
Northland Services, Inc. (“NSI”). Plaintiff madereport to NSI about racial harassment directed
by fellow truck drivers — also NSlubcontractors — at other NSilbgontractors. NSI terminated
Plaintiff's contract irretaliation for his reporbout the harassmerid. at 1009-10. Relying on
the Marquisdecision, the Washington Cawf Appeals ruled that andependent contractor
complaining about retaliation against anotinelependent contractevas protected from
retaliation. See id.at 1011-12.Cf. Ashkenazi v. S. Broward Hosp. Qi07 Fed. Appx. 958,
965 (11th Cir. 2015) (unpublished) (court obserthed it was unaware @y Florida appellate

case expressly construing state civil rights d@ts/ person” retaliatioprovision as pertaining
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only to employees and not to independent contractors).

In other jurisdictions, courts have comdéd that state humaights statutes do not
protect independent contractoasthough these rulings are notialithe contexbf retaliation
claims. See, e.g., Birchem v. Knights of Columiiis F.3d 310, 314 (8th Cir. 1997) (North
Dakota Human Rights Act does noobfect individual contractorsbelt v. County of Ogemaw
231 F. Supp. 2d 563, 576 (E.D. Mich. 2002) (citiradls v. Sporting News Publ’g G834 F.2d
611, 613 (6th Cir. 1987)) (independent contractornot bring retaliationlaim under state civil
rights act);Sloan v. Bankers Life & Cas. Cd. S.W.3d 555, 562 (Mo. Ct. App. 1999) (Missouri
human rights act applies to employer-emploggdationships, not ingeendent contractor
relationships).

The court declines at this time to dectte difficult question of whether the SJC would
be likely to rule that Chapter 151B protectsiahependent contractasserting a retaliation
claim in the circumstances alleged by Pl&imtecause, regardless of the outcome, Plaintiff's
ADA claim against Community Eerprises will proceedSee Claudomjr2016 WL 492754, at
*4 (declining to decide whetih¢here was individual liabit under Title 1l of the ADA when
claims would, in any event, go forward at summary judgment stage).

b. Defendants have not shown as a mattéawfthat Plaintiffwas an independent
contractor for purposes of @pter 151B, 88 4(4) and 4(4A)

“Courts in Massachusetts atite First Circuit determine whether a party is an employee
or independent contractor based upoaditional agency law principlesSpeen102 F.3d at
631. Those principles apply equally taiohs brought under the federal [ADA] and the
Massachusetts Anti-Discrimination Statutgee id at 627-34.” Santangelo v. N.Y. Life Ins. Co.
Civil Action No. 12-11295-NMG, 2014 WB896323, at *7 (D. Mass. Aug. 7, 2014ge also

Barton v. Clancy632 F.3d 9, 17-18 (1st Cir. 2011) (for purposes of interpreting term
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“employer,” in Chapter 151B, federal courts Iadokfederal decisions interpreting the term
“employer” under federal antidiscrimination st&sit For the reasons set forth above in
connection with Plaintiff's claim under the ADBefendants have not shown as a matter of law
that Plaintiff was an independerdntractor rather than an playee for purposes of Chapter
151B.

c. Plaintiff has adequately allegéitht she engaged in activity
protected under Chapter 151B

To state a claim for retaliation under Chad®1B, a plaintiff must allege that she
engaged in protected conduct, that she suffeoetk adverse action, and that there was a causal
connection between the protectmmhduct and the adverse actiddee Psy-E®47 N.E.2d at
530;Mole v. Univ. of Mass814 N.E.2d 329, 338-39 (Mass. 2004). Complaining to
management about discriminatory conduct, meetings to discuss opposition to discriminatory
conduct, writing critical letter® stakeholders, protesting agsii discrimination by the industry,
expressing or providing support for othensonfile formal charges, or requesting
accommodation for a disabled person “can trigger the protections of c. 1RitBkie v. Dept.
of State Police805 N.E.2d 54, 62 (Mass. App. Ct. 2004) (filing formal complaint, complaining
to management, filing an internemplaint, or meeting with eaorkers to plan opposition to
workplace discrimination is protected condusBe also Fantini557 F.3d at 32 (employee who
makes a charge, testifies, assists or participateasy manner in amvestigation, proceeding or
hearing engages in peatted conduct) (quotinBumner v. U.S. Postal Ser899 F.2d 203, 209
(2d Cir. 1990))Sifre, 38 F. Supp. 2d at 102 (requestagggommodation for disabled person is
protected activity)diting Barker v. Int'l Paper C.993 F. Supp. 10, 16 (D. Me. 1998)).
Moreover, a plaintiff ““must deonstrate only that [she] hadyaod faith, reasonable belief that

the underlying challenged actions . . itlué employer violated the law.Fantini, 557 F.3d at 32

23



(quotingWimmer v. Suffolk County Police Ded¥6 F.3d 125, 134 (2d Cir. 1999), cert. denied,
528 U.S. 964 (1990)).

The Complaint adequately alleges acts bjeDéants that Plaiiif might reasonably
have believed constituted disability discnmation by Defendants and that she engaged in
protected activity in response Defendants’ actions. Plaintifflages that, in response to action
or inaction by Community Enterprise — and others the face of alleged workplace harassment
directed at a disabled individyahe protested to Community térprises and arranged for legal
representation for one of therpeipants and supported therpeipant in filing a formal
discrimination complaint (Dkt. No. 5 at § 31; DNo. 5-1 at 11 2-3, 28, 61-66), and that she
assisted the other participamth the informal exercise afghts under Title VII and the ADA
(Dkt. No. 5 at  32). She has also adequatébgad causation: according to Plaintiff, two days
after Plaintiff's attorney sent a letter to i@munity Enterprises setting forth discrimination
claims on behalf of the paripant who filed a formal discrimination charge, Fisher demanded
that Plaintiff attend a meeting thibut her attorney, threatening to terminate Plaintiff’'s agreement
with Community Enterpses if Plaintiff failed to complyDkt. No. 5-1 aff[f 107-110). When
Plaintiff failed to attend, Community Enterprisé®,ough Fisher, sent Pldifi a letter enclosing
her final payment from Community Enterprisas at 1 119).See Mole814 N.E. 2d at 341
(“Where adverse employment actions follow e€las the heels of protd activity, a causal
relationship may be inferred.”) (citingliver v. Digital Equip. Corp.846 F2d 103, 110 (1st Cir.
1988)).

It is doubtful that Plaintiff’'s general adeacy activities on behadff the participants,
alleged at length in the Complaint, constitute gect#d activity because, in most respects, she has

not alleged that those acti@s related to conduct by Deilgants prohibited by the ADA and
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related to employment, public sergs, or public accommodations. Sifre, 38 F. Supp. 2d at
91, a case with factual similariti¢o the case at bar, the plaintiffs were employed to conduct
various advocacy activities on behaffindividuals with HIV/AIDS. Id. at 94. The plaintiffs
lost their jobs and sued their employer underatieretaliation provisions of the ADA, alleging
that the Department of Health had discrimidaggainst them for theadvocacy on behalf of
HIV/AIDS patients. The coudismissed the ADA claims ondlgrounds that the activities
identified in the complaint, which involvgablicy positions the plaintiffs took concerning
Department of Health regulations and repatid,not relate to any forms of discrimination
prohibited by Titles | (employment), Il (public tefits) or Il (public accommodations) of the
ADA and were not ADA-protected activitie§ee idat 102-103. The First Circuit affirmed
dismissal of the claims for the reas stated by the District Courgee Oliveras-Sifre214 F.3d
at 26-27.

While many of Plaintiff's allgations are likely not relevatd a cognizable retaliation
claim, drawing all reasonable inferences infagor, she has — if barelyadequately alleged
that Defendants retatied against her for engagingprotected conduct related to the
participants.See Fantini557 F.3d at 32Sifre, 38 F. Supp. 2d at 10Rjtchie 805 N.E.2d at 62.
Accordingly, so much of Defendants’ motiondismiss as is directed at Count IV will be
denied.

3. Count VIl is dismissed becauee Complaint fails to allege
misrepresentation with sufficient particularity

Count VII alleges that Defendants misrepresdrihe disabilities of the participants
Plaintiff cared for so that Plaintiff would acceptower stipend for the services she providdd (
at 1 75). “[M]isrepresentation must, under theilRRules, be pleaded with specificity Powers

v. Boston Cooper Corp926 F.2d 109, 111 (1st Cir. 199%ge also Alternative Sys. Concepts,
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Inc. v. Synopsys, In@374 F.3d 23, 29 (1st Cir. 2004). Rul®péf the Civil Rules (“Rule 9(b)”)
requires that a complaint specify the time, plarel content of the alleged false or fraudulent
representationsSee, e.gPowers 926 F. 2d at 111Alternative Sys. Concepts, In874 F.3d at
29. Plaintiff's Complaint is wholly deficient ithis respect. It contas no factual allegations
that would support a claim of intentional or negligent misrepresentation and, therefore,
completely fails to comply with Rule 9(bPlaintiff does not oppose dismissal of Count VII if
the dismissal is without prejig (Dkt. No. 30 at 18). Accordingly, Count VIl is dismissed
without prejudice as to all Defendants.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, it is hereby ORDBEREat Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss be
GRANTED in part and DENIED ipart, as follows: Count | is sinissed with prejudice as to all
defendants; Count Il is dismisseith prejudice as to defendarisher and Kenney; Count Il is
dismissed with prejudice as to all defendantsyi@ V is dismissed witprejudice as to Fisher
and Kenney; Count VI is dismissed with paice as to all Defendasjtand Count VIl is
dismissed without prejudice asdth Defendants. Defendantglotion is DENIED with respect
to Count Il as to Community Enterprises and Cduras to all Defendants. To the extent
Plaintiff desires to amend her complaint, shdlgh@ a motion for leave to do so within forty-

five (45) days of the issuanoéthis Memorandum and Order.

DATED: March 23, 2016 I¥Katherine A. Robertson
KATHERINEA. ROBERTSON
UnitedStatedMagistrateJudge
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